University of Massachusetts Amherst ScholarWorks@UMass Amherst

Masters Theses 1911 - February 2014

2013

Parameter Variation Sensing and Estimation in Nanoscale Fabrics

Jianfeng Zhang University of Massachusetts Amherst

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.umass.edu/theses Part of the <u>Nanotechnology Fabrication Commons</u>, and the <u>VLSI and Circuits</u>, <u>Embedded and</u> <u>Hardware Systems Commons</u>

Zhang, Jianfeng, "Parameter Variation Sensing and Estimation in Nanoscale Fabrics" (2013). *Masters Theses 1911 - February 2014*. 1167.

Retrieved from https://scholarworks.umass.edu/theses/1167

This thesis is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks@UMass Amherst. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses 1911 -February 2014 by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UMass Amherst. For more information, please contact scholarworks@library.umass.edu.

PARAMETER VARIATION SENSING AND ESTIMATION IN NANOSCALE FABRICS

A Thesis Presented

by

JIANFENG ZHANG

Submitted to the Graduate School of the University of Massachusetts Amherst in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN ELECTRICAL AND COMPUTER ENGINEERING

September 2013

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

PARAMETER VARIATION SENSING AND ESTIMATION IN NANOSCALE FABRICS

A Thesis Presented

by

JIANFENG ZHANG

Approved as to style and content by:

Csaba Andras Moritz, Chair

Israel Koren, Member

C. Mani Krishna, Member

C. V. Hollot, Department Head Electrical and Computer Engineering

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take this chance to thank all the people who gave me so much help during my graduate study.

First of all, I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Prof. Csaba Andras Moritz, for his inspiring advice, constant patience and encouragement. I would also like to thank my committee members, Prof. Israel Koren and Prof. Mani Krishna for their time and suggestions.

I would like to especially acknowledge the guidance and assistance provided by Pritish Narayanan, Santosh Khasanvis, Mostafizur Rahman, Pavan Panchapakeshan and others in the Prof. Moritz's Research Group. Without their help, I could not finish my thesis. I also thank all my friends at UMASS, Amherst for making my life so enjoyable.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for their support and encouragement.

ABSTRACT

PARAMETER VARIATION SENSING AND ESTIMATION IN NANOSCALE FABRICS

SEPTEMBER 2013

JIANFENG ZHANG

B.TECH, HARBIN INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY M.S.E.C.E., UNIVERSITY OF MASSACHUSETTS AMHERST

Directed by: Professor Csaba Andras Moritz

Parameter variations introduced by manufacturing imprecision are becoming more influential on circuit performance. This is especially the case in emerging nanoscale fabrics due to unconventional manufacturing steps (e.g., nano-imprint) and aggressive scaling. These parameter variations can lead to performance deterioration and consequently yield loss.

Parameter variations are typically addressed pre-fabrication with circuit design targeting worst-case timing scenarios. However, this approach is pessimistic and much of performance benefits can be lost. By contrast, if parameter variations can be estimated post-manufacturing, adaptive techniques or reconfiguration could be used to provide more optimal level of tolerance. To estimate parameter variations during run-time, on-chip variation sensors are gaining in importance because of their easy implementation.

In this thesis, we propose novel on-chip variation sensors to estimate variations in physical parameters for emerging nanoscale fabrics. Based on the characteristics of systematic and random variations, two separate sensors are designed to estimate the extent of systematic variations and the statistical distribution of random variations from

iv

measured fall and rise times in the sensors respectively. The proposed sensor designs are evaluated through HSPICE Monte Carlo simulations with known variation cases injected. Simulation results show that the estimation error of the systematic-variation sensor is less than 1.2% for all simulated cases; and for the random-variation sensor, the worst-case estimation error is 12.7% and the average estimation error is 8% for all simulations.

In addition, to address the placement of on-chip sensors, we calculate sensor area and the effective range of systematic-variation sensor. Then using a processor designed in nanoscale fabrics as a target, an example for sensor placement is introduced. Based on the sensor placement, external noises that may affect the measured fall and rise times of outputs are identified. Through careful analysis, we find that these noises do not deteriorate the accuracy of the systematic-variation sensor, but affect the accuracy of the random-variation sensor.

We believe that the proposed on-chip variation sensors in conjunction with post-fabrication compensation techniques would be able to improve system-level performance in nanoscale fabrics, which may be an efficient alternative to making worst-case assumptions on parameter variations in nanoscale designs.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiii
ABSTRACTiv
LIST OF TABLES viii
LIST OF FIGURESix
CHAPTER
1. INTRODUCTION AND MOTIVATION1
2. NASIC FABRIC OVERVIEW
3. ON-CHIP VARIATION SENSOR DESIGN FOR SYSTEMATIC VARIATION ESTIMATION10
3.1 Introduction103.2 Notations113.3 On-Chip Systematic-Variation Sensor Design123.4 Methodology for Evaluating the Sensor Design153.5 Results17
3.5.1 Sensor Accuracy
3.6 Summary
4.1 Introduction

4.3.1 MLE-based Variability Sensing Methodology	25
4.3.2 EM-based Variability Sensing Methodology	29
4.4 Evaluation of the Proposed Sensor Design	
4.5 Results	
4.5.1 Simulation Results of MLE-based Sensing Methodology	36
4.5.2 Simulation Results of EM-based Sensing Methodology	
4.6 Summary	41
5. PLACEMENT OF ON-CHIP VARIATION SENSORS	42
5.1 Introduction	42
5.2 Placement of Systematic-Variation Sensor	42
5.2.1 Calculation of Sensor Area	42
5.2.2 Re-calculation of Sensor Effective Range	44
5.2.3 Example of Sensor Placement	45
5.2.4 Impact of External Noise on the Estimation Accuracy	47
5.3 Placement of Random-Variation Sensor	48
5.3.1 Calculation of Sensor Area	48
5.3.2 Example of Sensor Placement	49
5.4 Summary	50
6. CONCLUSION	51
BIBLIOGRAPHY	53

LIST	OF	TA	BL	ES
------	----	----	----	----

Table Page
1. Summary of Notations11
2. Examples of Variation Cases and MEE Calculation17
3. Sensor Range vs. Permissible Estimation Error (e _{max})21
4. Summary of Notations24
5. Estimation Error for MLE-Based Sensing Methodology
6. Comparison of AEE between EM-based and MLE-based Methods
7. Estimation Error for EM-Based Sensing Method
8. Parameter values for density calculation
9. Area of WISP-0 in NAND-NAND style [35]46

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page
1. Nanoscale Application Specific Integrated Circuits (NASIC) with regular semiconductor nanowire grids, xnwFET devices and peripheral microscale control a) 3-D fabric view b) circuit schematic
2. n-type xnwFET device structure with orthogonal gate and channel nanowires7
3. N-input NASIC dynamic NAND gate7
4. Front view of the xnwFET during the formation of the source and drain underlap8
5. Sensor dynamic circuit pair using N, N+1 fan-in NAND gates12
6. 4-pair Sensor circuit to determine variation in four systematic variation parameters .14
7. Flowchart of systematic-variation estimation15
8. Methodology for evaluating sensor designs based on HSPICE Monte Carlo circuit simulations
9. Relationship between fan-in (N) and the estimation error
10. CDF function of Maximum Estimated Error across 100 Monte Carlo Simulations19
11. Example of sensor effective range calculation within the effective field (25mm *25mm) of systematic-variation model
12. a) Random-variation sensor; b) Sensor set25
13. Maximum Likelihood Estimation (MLE) based variability sensing methodology 26
14. Flowchart of Expectation Maximization algorithm for normal distribution30
15. Expectation Maximization (EM) based variability sensing methodology32
16. Framework for evaluating sensor design based on Monte Carlo circuit simulations 33
17. HSPICE Monte Carlo circuit simulation flow
18. Probability density function (PDF) of estimated standard deviation for varying number of sensors in the sensor set; a) Channel doping; b) Source-Drain doping; and c) Underlap
19. Cumulative distribution function (CDF) of estimation error across 1,000 estimated standard deviations

20. Comparison of average estimation error (AEE) between EM-based and MLE-based sensing methods: a) Channel doping; b) Source-Drain doping; c) Underlap37
21. Relationship between average estimation error and number of sensors
22. Cumulative distribution function of estimation error for m=150 current sensor set .39
23. Relationship between the worst-case estimation error and the injected standard deviation of physical parameter for m=15040
24. The layout of the systematic-variation sensor
25. Schematic diagram of sensor effective range with consideration of sensor shape44
26. Floorplan of the WISP-0 processor [35]45
27. Floorplan of the WISP-0 processor with systematic variation sensor and additional CMOS TDC (S.S represents systematic-variation sensor)
28. Block diagram of timing measurement architecture [36]47
29. The layout of the random-variation sensor
30. Floorplan of the WISP-0 processor with random-variation sensor and additional CMOS TDC (R.S represents random-variation sensor)

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION AND MOTIVATION

Emerging nanoscale computing systems have been proposed as an alternative to scaled CMOS with potential performance and density benefits. These nanoscale computing systems are based on novel nanostructures, such as nanowires [1], [2], carbon nanotubes [3], graphene [4], [5], magneto electric devices [6], [7], [8], etc. Their manufacturing approaches incorporate unconventional (e.g., self-assembly, nano-imprint) and conventional (e.g., deposition, etching, and lithography) process steps. As their feature sizes shrink into deep nanoscale, the manufacturing process may cause a significant level of variations in physical parameters. For example, during ion implantation, there exists some randomness in the distribution of dopants, which can result in the fluctuation of total number of dopants in the specified region (e.g., drain, source).

Parameter variations are usually classified into systematic variations and random variations based on the characteristics of their manufacturing process. Systematic variations are typically spatial correlated, which can lead to similar characteristics of parameter variations in devices that are close to each other. In contrast to systematic variations, random variations have no spatial correlation, which means even neighboring devices may have completely different variation characteristics. Details on the types and sources of both systematic and random variations in these emerging nanoscale fabrics will be introduced later with emphasis on Nanoscale Application Specific Integrated Circuits (NASICs) fabric [9], [10], [11], [12], [13].

Their influence on circuit performance for these emerging nanoscale computing fabrics, including both systematic and random variations, has been extensively characterized through 3-D physics based simulations using Synopsys Sentaurus tools [14]. For example, simulation results in [14] show the non-linear influence of variations in different physical parameters (e.g., channel length, gate oxide thickness, source-drain doping and underlap) on the on-current of devices. The system level performance was shown to degrade considerably as a result of parameter variations, with 67% of simulated chips operating at less than their nominal frequency [14]. As a result, these parameter variations could lead to performance deterioration such as timing errors and consequently yield loss in the integrated circuits.

Parameter variations are traditionally addressed pre-fabrication by circuit design, often targeting various worst-case variation scenarios. However, this pre-fabrication approach is pessimistic and much of the performance benefits can be lost especially for emerging nanoscale computing fabrics where the extent of variability can be high. Alternatively, if parameter variations could be estimated post-fabrication, some compensation techniques, such as redundant intermediate bitslices [15] and body biasing [16], could be used to adjust circuit timing and reduce leakage power during run-time, leading to area and performance benefits.

To estimate parameter variations post-fabrication, two popular methods exist: I-V curve measurement and sensor-based estimation. I-V curve measurement is a conventional approach to obtain characteristics for each transistor [17], [18]. However, in order to measure I-V curve, an analog voltage and current measurement equipment is required. It is a very precise approach, but not adaptive for estimating parameter variations for each chip targeting chip-by-chip performance compensation. By contrast, on-chip variation sensors can be easily implemented on a chip and can obtain variability

information at run-time since sensor outputs can be easily measured. Traditionally, ring oscillator (RO) is chosen as on-chip variation sensor for variability sensing by measuring RO frequency. However, some problems exist in RO-based on-chip variation sensor design. First of all, a large area overhead will be introduced by RO-based on-chip variation sensors. It is mainly because RO stages in these on-chip sensors are usually more than 100 to make RO frequency measurable. Secondly, RO is unsuitable for random variation sensing. Because of the averaging effect [19], RO frequency will average parameters of all stages. So it does not permit the characterization of random variations on individual devices. As a result, in order to enable accurate variation estimation in these emerging nanoscale fabrics, novel on-chip variation sensor design and the corresponding variability sensing methodology become necessary.

In this thesis, we propose novel on-chip variation sensor designs for quantifying variations in physical parameters (e.g., channel length, underlap and gate oxide thickness) in NASIC fabric. Based on the different characteristics of systematic and random variations, two separate sensor circuits are designed for estimating systematic and random variations respectively. It is necessary because: 1) spatial correlation is the foundation of systematic-variation sensing, but random variation has no spatial correlation; and 2) in order to estimate random variations accurately, the averaging effect must be avoided in the random-variation sensor design, but it does not affect the systematic-variation sensor design.

With respect to systematic variations, a new resilience sensor design is presented, which can estimate the extent of systematic variations in neighboring regions from its own variations. This correspondence is possible because: 1) spatially correlated or 'systematic' behavior is well-known for several parameters (e.g., gate oxide [20], transistor channel and gate linewidth [21]); and 2) the uniform array-based organization of these fabrics with identical devices and no arbitrary sizing or doping implies that sensor circuits designed using the same devices and circuit/logic styles can be representative of the fabric as a whole. In this sensor design, signal fall times are used to extract the extent of physical parameter variations for different spatially correlated parameters. HSPICE Monte Carlo circuit simulations are used to evaluate this sensor design. Simulation results show that in 100% of simulated cases, the relative error between the injected and estimated extent of systematic variations in physical parameters is less than 1.2%. In addition, to address the aspect of sensor distribution across a wafer, sensor effective range is defined based on spatial correlation. In conjunction with well-characterized experimental data shown in [22], the sensor effective range is calculated with respect to different values of permissible error. Our results show that the sensor design can estimate the extent of systematic variation in the gate diameter to within 20% of its actual values inside a 3.3mm radius based on the given experimental data.

By contrast, a novel on-chip sensor design for quantifying the statistical distribution and impact of random variations in physical parameters (e.g., channel doping density, drain/source doping density) in the NASIC fabric is proposed. In this sensor, signal fall and rise times are used to extract the statistical distribution of random variations. Further, a methodology for evaluating and validating this sensor design using HSPICE Monte Carlo circuit simulations is presented. The simulation results show that the relative error between the injected and estimated standard deviation of physical parameters is 12.7% in the worst case and 8% on average scenarios with as low as 150 sensor instances used. Finally, to introduce the application of the proposed on-chip variation sensors in real chip scenario, WISP-0 processor, which is designed on NASIC fabric with all NASIC design principles and optimizations applied, is used as a target to show examples of sensor placement. The principles of sensor placement are discussed and the sensor area that may be treated as the area overhead is calculated with the projected technology parameters. External noises that may affect the estimation accuracy of the proposed sensors are identified. Through careful analysis, we find that these external noises only affect the estimation accuracy of the reduced by sensor placement.

The proposed sensor designs for both systematic and random variations are also directly applicable to the Nanoscale 3-D Application Specific Integrated Circuits (N³ASIC) [23], [24], and the variability sensing methodology can be extended to other regular nanoscale computing fabrics in general.

The rest of this thesis is organized as follows: Chapter 2 briefly presents the NASIC fabric with emphasis on physical parameter variations; Chapter 3 illustrates the new systematic-variation sensor design and describes the Monte Carlo simulation methodology for evaluating the sensor design; Chapter 4 discusses the random-variation sensor design and its evaluation; Chapter 5 introduces the principles of sensor placement and analyzes the impact of external noises on the estimation accuracy; and Chapter 6 concludes the thesis.

CHAPTER 2

NASIC FABRIC OVERVIEW

Nanoscale Application Specific Integrated Circuits (NASICs) is a nanoscale computational fabric that relies on 2-D grids of semiconductor nanowires with crossed nanowire field-effect transistors (xnwFETs) at certain crosspoints (Figure. 1). In this fabric, in order to ease manufacturing requirements, a regular grid layout is used where all transistors on the crosspoints are identical with no arbitrary doping or sizing requirements. This semiconductor nanowire grid includes some peripheral micro wires to carry VDD, GND and control signals. Dynamic circuit styles without the requirement of complementary devices or arbitrary placement/sizing are used for logic implementation. Several extensions exist to NASICs and there are other circuit styles also proposed but the approach for variability estimation applies across all of them.



Figure. 1 Nanoscale Application Specific Integrated Circuits (NASIC) with regular semiconductor nanowire grids, xnwFET devices and peripheral microscale control a) 3-D fabric view b) circuit schematic

The xnwFET structure and dynamic circuit style are shown in Figure. 2 and Figure. 3. Figure. 3 shows an N-input dynamic NAND gate with xnwFETs as active devices. The pre and eva signals in this NAND gate are used to precharge and discharge the output (out) respectively depending on inputs (in₁, in₂, ..., in_N). Multiple stages of logic can be achieved by cascading multiple such dynamic NAND gates. The proposed sensors follow the same dynamic circuit style.



Figure. 2 n-type xnwFET device structure with orthogonal gate and channel nanowires



Figure. 3 N-input NASIC dynamic NAND gate

The assumed xnwFET device operating principle is similar to that of inversion mode devices; the current through the channel nanowire is modulated by the potential applied on the orthogonal gate. In this xnwFET structure, key physical parameters are identified, which include channel diameter (C_{diam}), gate diameter (G_{diam}), gate oxide thickness (G_{ox}), bottom oxide thickness (B_{ox}), channel doping density (CD), source-drain doping density (SDD) and underlap length (U). Based on the characteristics of their manufacturing process, they are classified into systematic variations and random variations.

In NASIC fabric, physical parameters varying systematically include channel diameter (C_{diam}), gate diameter (G_{diam}), gate oxide thickness (G_{ox}) and bottom oxide thickness (B_{ox}).

Diameters of nanowires in NASIC fabric are strongly correlated to the size of the seed catalysts used in Vapor-Liquid-Solid (VLS) growth [25], [26]. Nanoimprint lithography is usually used to pattern substrates with these seed catalysts. During this process, a variety of sources, such as mold errors and lens aberrations, may cause variations in the size of these seed catalysts. This implies that at the circuit level, the channel and gate diameters of all transistors along a same nanowire will be systematically affected. On the other hand, Atomic-Layer Deposition (ALD) is a process step commonly used for creating HfO₂ gate and bottom dielectric that also exhibits strong spatial correlation [20].

By contrast, channel doping density, drain-source doping density and underlap length are the main types of random variations in NASIC fabric. As the feature sizes continue to shrink, the total number of dopant atoms inside the channel, source and drain regions decreases drastically. Hence, there exists some randomness in the distribution of dopant atoms in these regions during ion implantation. On the other hand, source and drain junction underlap regions are formed by spacer technology [27], which is similar to what is used to form highly doped drain and source (HDD) in CMOS devices. The formation of the drain and source underlap is shown in Figure. 4. An initial device structure is shown in Figure. 4a, and then the spacer material is conformally deposited as shown in Figure. 4b. During the anisotropic etching step, the spacer is etched incompletely owing to higher



Figure. 4 Front view of the xnwFET during the formation of the source and drain underlap

thickness above the underlap region in Figure. 4c. During the subsequent ion implantation, some dopant atoms may be implanted into the underlap region due to the thinner spacer above the boundary of underlap, leading to random variation in underlap length.

Based on the discussion above, the variations in these physical parameters come from different manufacturing process. So we assume that they are independent to each other in this thesis.

CHAPTER 3

ON-CHIP VARIATION SENSOR DESIGN FOR SYSTEMATIC VARIATION ESTIMATION

3.1 Introduction

A key motivation for on-chip variation sensing is the capability to adjust circuit behavior post-manufacturing without pessimistic over-compensation at design time. While designing for the worst case could guarantee that there are no timing faults in the design, this approach would likely eliminate benefits of nanoscale computing fabrics. For example, previous circuit simulations of parameter variations in NASIC processor designs [14] have shown that while worst-case delays can be 2X - 2.5X of the nominal, this occurs in less than 1% of simulated cases. Also, the distribution of delays is such that 85% of samples fall within 30% deviation from the nominal frequency, which implies that most fabricated chips would not need worst-case resilience.

If the extent of variations in fabricated chips can be estimated, body-biasing (to lower the threshold voltage), or reconfiguration schemes can be used to meet circuit timing requirements and retain performance benefits. Variation sensors can also be used for process feedback (i.e., to determine, based on device parameters, which process steps need to be more carefully controlled).

In this chapter, we first present a new on-chip sensor design for the NASIC fabric, which can be used to estimate the extent of systematic variations in physical parameters based on the measurement of fall time (1-to-0 transitions) in dynamic NAND gate, and then describe a methodology for evaluating the accuracy of the sensor design based on HSPICE Monte Carlo circuit simulations injecting known variation cases into the sensor circuits. The simulation results for the sensor accuracy are shown subsequently. Finally, based on the spatial correlation of systematic variations, an experimental model for systematic variations in gate diameter is used to derive sensor effective range for different permissible errors.

3.2 Notations

All the notations that will be used in this chapter are summarized in Table. 1.

Notation	Description
N	Number of inputs for the NAND gate
V _{DS}	Drain-source voltage
t _{f,out}	Fall time of the output
K	Number of time constants to discharge output
C _{Load}	Output loading capacitance
R _i	xnwFET equivalent resistance
h(x _i)	Polynomial function of individual parameter x_i
М	Number of systematic parameters
Р	Vector representing the extent of variations in individual parameters
S	Sensitivity matrix of systematic parameters
Т	Vector containing the difference in fall times of one functional unit
C _{diam}	Channel diameter
G _{diam}	Gate diameter
G _{ox}	Gate oxide thickness
B _{ox}	Bottom oxide thickness
x ^j i	Injected value of parameter x _i
x ^e i	Estimated value of parameter x _i
EE	Estimation error of one parameter
MEE	Maximum estimation error across all parameters

Table. 1 Summary of Notations

	for each Monte Carlo case
D	Sensor effective range
e _{max}	Maximum allowed imprecision

3.3 On-Chip Systematic-Variation Sensor Design

Figure. 5 shows the new sensor circuit, which uses the same circuit styles as logic portions of the design. It consists of a pair of dynamic NAND gates with fan-in N and N+1. In principle, if the switching characteristics of a single device can be isolated, then information on the extent of variation in the device can be extracted using physics-based device models.



Figure. 5 Sensor dynamic circuit pair using N, N+1 fan-in NAND gates

The sensor operates as follows: outputs are initially precharged by asserting the pre signal. During this time the input in_1 is switched off ensuring that intermediate capacitances are not charged. All other inputs are asserted. Subsequently, in_1 and eva signals are asserted, leading to 1-to-0 transitions on both output nodes. The difference in the fall times of the two output signals in this circuit pair can be directly attributed to the behavior of the single 'additional' xnwFET if transient effects are near identical. This is made possible through careful sensor design. Firstly, the output load capacitance is made much larger than the device parasitics related capacitances, eliminating their effect. Secondly, N must be large enough such that the net V_{DS} drop across the N+1 FETs in the second dynamic NAND gate is very small. This N will be determined by HSPICE

simulations of sensor circuits employing accurate physics-based device models.

Ignoring transient effects, fall times are given by Eq. (1) and (2),

$$t_{f,out_1} = K^* (R_1^{'} + R_2^{'} + \dots + R_N^{'} + R_{N+1}^{'} + R_{eva}^{'})^* C_{Load}$$
(1)

$$t_{f,out_2} = K * (R_1 + R_2 + \dots + R_N + R_{eva}) * C_{Load}$$
(2)

where K is the number of time constants to discharge the output and C_{Load} is the output loading capacitance. $R_{1...} R_{N+1}$ are xnwFET equivalent resistances. Subtracting Eq. (1) – (2), we get Eq. (3).

$$t_{f,out_1} - t_{f,out_2} = K * R_{N+1} * C_{Load}$$
(3)

Next, R_{N+1} can be expressed as a function of the individual variation parameters. Assuming independent variations in M different parameters (since each parameter is dependent on a separate process step as discussed in chapter 2), the resistance function can be decomposed into polynomial functions $h_i(x_i)$ of the individual parameter x_i , as shown in Eq. (4).

$$\frac{t_{f,out_1} - t_{f,out_2}}{K * C_{Load}} = R'_{N+1} = h_1(x_1) + h_2(x_2) + \dots + h_M(x_M)$$
(4)

The above equation establishes a single relationship between measurable fall times and the extent of physical variations to be estimated. Considering different values of N and N+1, a linear system of equations can be established and solved for the individual parameters. For example, if there are 4 systematic parameters being varied (M=4), then four different sensor pairs are used to establish 4 fall-time difference equations. Figure. 6 shows such a sensor, with 8 dynamic NAND gates, and (N, N+1) pairs will be determined by circuit simulations.

For simplicity, the next set of equations consider first-order (linear) relationships for



Figure. 6 4-pair sensor circuit to determine variation in four systematic variation parameters

 $h_i(x_i)$ polynomials. Results for 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th order polynomials will be discussed in the following sections. Eq. (5) shows the matrix representation for the linear system of equations that needs to be solved.

$$\vec{P} = \vec{S}^{-1} * \vec{T} \tag{5}$$

$$\vec{P} = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ x_{M-1} \\ x_M \end{pmatrix} \quad \vec{S} = \begin{pmatrix} k_{1,1} & k_{1,2} & \cdots & \cdots & k_{1,M-1} & k_{1,M} \\ k_{2,1} & k_{2,2} & \cdots & \cdots & k_{2,M-1} & k_{2,M} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ k_{M-1,1} & k_{M-1,2} & \cdots & \cdots & k_{M-1,M-1} & k_{M-1,M} \\ k_{M,1} & k_{M,2} & \cdots & \cdots & k_{M,M-1} & k_{M,M} \end{pmatrix} \quad \vec{T} = \begin{pmatrix} g(\Delta t_{f,1}) \\ g(\Delta t_{f,2}) \\ \vdots \\ g(\Delta t_{f,M-1}) \\ g(\Delta t_{f,M}) \end{pmatrix}$$

P is the vector representing the extent of variation in individual parameters that needs to be determined, S lists the sensitivity coefficients of each parameter, and T contains measured differences in fall times. For M systematic variation parameters, M pairs of sensor circuits are needed to establish M different linear equations. By solving this system of equations, the extent of variation in individual parameters is estimated. This process is abstracted in Figure. 7.



Figure. 7 Flowchart of systematic-variation estimation

3.4 Methodology for Evaluating the Sensor Design

In this section, we describe a methodology for evaluating the accuracy of the sensor design based on HSPICE Monte Carlo circuit simulations injecting known variation cases into the sensor circuit.

xnwFET structures are characterized through variation-aware 3-D physics based simulations using Synopsys Sentaurus [14]. Individual parameters considered include channel and gate diameters (C_{diam} , G_{diam}), and gate-oxide and bottom-oxide thicknesses (G_{ox} , B_{ox}). Device I-V and C-V characteristics were obtained for up to $3\sigma = \pm 30\%$ variation in all parameters. The device characterization data was then used to build SPICE-compatible behavioral models using regression analysis. These behavioral models represent the xnwFET resistance as a function of gate-source voltage, drain-source voltage and extent of variation in physical parameters.

Using these device behavior models, an initial circuit simulation step is used to populate the sensitivity matrix S. Circuit simulations are carried out for the sensor shown in Figure. 6 with parameters varied one at a time. Sensitivity coefficients for all parameters are calculated from the measured fall times by curve fitting.

To test if the sensor design provides accurate estimates of physical parameter variations, a Monte Carlo based simulation framework (Figure. 8) is used. Fan-in N will be varied to evaluate its effect on the estimation accuracy. Then for each N, HSPICE circuit simulations are carried out with known variation cases injected into the sensor. Based on the measured fall times, the extent of variation in physical parameters is estimated using the theoretical framework described in the previous section. The relative error in estimated vs. injected variation in physical parameters can then be determined. This process will be iterated 100 times to achieve sufficient estimates.



Figure. 8 Methodology for evaluating sensor designs based on HSPICE Monte Carlo circuit simulations

3.5 Results

3.5.1 Sensor Accuracy

Circuit simulations were carried out to determine the accuracy of the sensor design in estimating the extent of variation in physical parameters. The metric used is the Estimation Error (EE) for parameter x_i , defined as:

$$EE = 100 * \left| (x_i^e - x_i^j) \right| / x_i^j$$
(6)

here x_i^j is the injected value of parameter x_i , x_i^e is the value of the parameter x_i estimated by the sensor. The Maximum Estimation Error (MEE) across all M parameters for each Monte Carlo case is then defined as:

$$MEE = MAX(EE_1, EE_2, \cdots, EE_M)$$
⁽⁷⁾

An example for the calculation of MEE is shown in Table. 2. In Case 1, the C_{diam} parameter has the maximum estimation error of 0.212%. In Case 2, the maximum estimation error is for the B_{ox} parameter (0.695%).

$(C_{diam}, G_{ox}, B_{ox}, G_{diam})$	Estimated Variation	Injected Variation (normalized)	MEE
Case 1	(-0.10, 0.06, 0.09, 0.08)	(-0.11, 0.06, 0.09, 0.09)	$0.212\%(C_{diam})$
Case 2	(0.11, -0.16, -0.07, 0.03)	(0.10, -0.17, -0.06, 0.03)	$0.695\%(B_{ox})$

Table. 2 Examples of Variation Cases and MEE Calculation

To evaluate the impact of fan-in N on the estimation accuracy, N is varied in the HSPICE simulations, and for each N, in order to eliminate the impact of other factors on the estimation accuracy, 4th-order polynomial functions (i.e., sufficient to model relationships between fall times and systematic parameters and proved later) are used to model Eq. (4). Based on the evaluation methodology, 100 variation cases are injected into

the sensor circuit and then estimated. The average estimation error among these 100 variation cases for each N is calculated. The relationship between fan-in N and the estimation accuracy is shown in Figure. 9. From this figure, we can see that both the maximum estimation error and the average estimation error decrease gradually as the number of fan-in (N) increases. When N increases to 49, the average estimation error decreases to 1.07% and the maximum estimation error becomes 1.2% across these 100 different variation cases.



Figure. 9 Relationship between fan-in (N) and the estimation error

When fan-in N is 49, Figure. 10 shows the cumulative distribution function (CDF) for the MEE across 100 Monte Carlo simulations. The graphs consider first, second, third and fourth-order polynomial relationships between individual parameters and the measured fall times. From these results, third-order polynomials are accurate enough to model the relationships between individual parameters and the measured fall times, with less than 1% MEE for 90% of simulations, and less than 1.2% MEE for all cases considered. Even with linear approximations, the MEE is within 1.4% for 100% of samples. This implies that sensor design and methodology provides an accurate estimation of extent of variation in individual parameters. An important caveat is the requirement for populating the sensitivity matrix from accurate models based on extensive experimental characterizations.



Figure. 10 CDF function of Maximum Estimated Error across 100 Monte Carlo Simulations

3.5.2 Sensor Effective Range

The problem of sensor effective range seeks to address the placement of sensors on a wafer, chip or small region given a model for trends in systematic variation across this region. For example, initial wafer lots could have a high density of sensors and as processes become more tightly controlled and extent/trends in variation better quantified, it may be possible to achieve a more optimal placement of sensors.



Figure. 11 Example of sensor effective range calculation within the effective field (25mm*25mm) of systematic-variation model

Consider two locations A and B in a region separated by a distance D (Figure. 11). A sensor placed at A is able to determine the extent of systematic variation at position A to within MEE (i.e., the sensor accuracy). Now, considering a suitable model for the distribution of systematic variation in this region, we wish to estimate the error in the sensor estimation with respect to the actual extent of systematic variation at location B. Conversely, the sensor range D for which the sensor accuracy is below a pre-defined permissible estimation error can be estimated. This is demonstrated below.

Considering error in estimation at point A,

$$\left| \left(x_A^e - x_A^a \right) \right| / x_A^a \le e_A \tag{8}$$

where for simplicity the metric MEE has been replaced by estimation error at point A, ' e_A '. x^e_A represents the sensor estimation value; x^a_A represents the actual variation at point A. Two cases are possible depending on whether the sensor overestimates or underestimates the value of x^a_A ,

$$x_A^a \le x_A^e / (1 - e_A) \tag{9}$$

$$x_A^a \ge x_A^e / (1 + e_A) \tag{10}$$

Consider an experimental model for systematic variations in gate diameter [22] that describes the distribution of systematic variations across a region,

$$\Delta G_{diam} = f(x, y) = 0.027 * y^2 - 0.093 * x - 0.079 * y + 0.008 * x * y + 4.043$$
(11)

In this model, the systematic variation in gate diameter (Δ G_{diam}) is modeled as a function of its coordinates (x, y) in a region (25mm*25mm). By employing this model, the systematic variation in gate diameter at every point in this region can be calculated.

Now, based on the two cases outlined above, and given a maximum allowed

imprecision e_{max} at point B,

or

$$x_B^a = x_A^e / (1 - e_{\max})$$
(12)

$$x_B^a = x_A^e / (1 + e_{\max})$$
(13)

Solving the inequalities (9) - (13) for the two cases, we get many possible positions for point B that match our equations. Then the distances between point A and these possible points for point B can be calculated. Since the information on whether the sensor overestimated or underestimated the actual value of the parameter is unknown, the smallest of these D values needs to be selected. With respect to different values of permissible errors (e_{max}), the calculated sensor effective range (D) is shown in Table. 3.

<i>e_{max}</i>	Sensor Range (D), in mm
2%	0.18
4%	0.6
6%	1
10%	1.7
15%	2.5
20%	3.3

Table. 3 Sensor Range vs. Permissible Estimation Error (e_{max})

These results show that for an estimation error between 2% - 20%, the sensor range varies from 0.18mm to 3.3mm. As expected, sensor effective range increases if more imprecision can be tolerated. Similarly, the model for the distribution of systematic variations in each parameter can be established and the sensor effective range would then be determined by employing these models.

A key challenge in determining sensor distribution is that the distance D depends on the estimated parameter value and the variation distribution model, which may only be available post-manufacturing. In nanoscale computing fabrics supporting reconfiguration, it may be possible to progressively design sensors based on estimated values, since the sensor logic and circuit style are identical to other functional blocks in the design. Otherwise, estimations based on previous experimental characterizations need to be used to determine sensor spacing pre-manufacturing.

3.6 Summary

In this chapter, a new on-chip variation sensor for the NASIC fabric was shown. A methodology for extracting the extent of systematic variation in physical parameters from the measured sensor fall times was presented. Using physics-based device models and HSPICE Monte Carlo simulations, sensor accuracy was quantified. Results show less than 1.2% error in estimation of physical parameters for 100% of the samples considered. Sensor effective range was calculated by employing an experimental model for systematic variations in gate diameter. With respect to different values of permissible estimation error, the sensor range was shown to be up to 3.3mm considering a permissible estimation error of 20% in gate diameter.

CHAPTER 4

ON-CHIP VARIATION SENSOR DESIGN FOR RANDOM VARIATION ESTIMATION

4.1 Introduction

Conventional variation estimation methods [28], [29] assume that large circuits are not affected by random variations because of an averaging effect; i.e., the influence of random variations is assumed to be nullified if the number of transistors in the critical path is large [30]. However, at nanoscale the impact of random variations cannot be neglected, since the influence is non-linear on circuit performance. For example, in [14] it was shown that there exists non-linear relationship between the on-current of devices and random variations in certain parameters (e.g., channel doping, source-drain doping and underlap). The system level performance was shown to degrade considerably as a result of random variations, with 67% of simulated chips operating at less than their nominal frequency [14]. Therefore, we believe that in order to estimate parameter variations accurately, random variations should be explicitly taken into consideration.

In this chapter, we discuss a new on-chip sensor design in the context of the NASIC fabric. The sensor can be used to estimate the statistical distribution of random variation in physical parameters based on the measured fall time (1-to-0 transitions) and rise time (0-to-1 transitions) from the sensor circuit. Further, a methodology for evaluating this sensor design using HSPICE Monte Carlo simulation is presented. The simulation results obtained from 150 sensor instances show that the relative error between the injected and estimated standard deviation of physical parameters is 12.7% in the worst-case and 8% on average scenarios.

4.2 Notations

		Distribution	
	Notation	Mean (µ)	Standard Deviation (σ)
Rise Time	t_r	μ_{tr}	σ_{tr}
Fall Time	t_f	$\mu_{t\!f}$	σ_{tf}
Channel Doping	CD	_	σ_{CD}
Source/drain Doping	SDD	_	σ_{SDD}
Underlap	U	_	σ_U
Complete Sensor Set	п	$\mu_{ m C}$	$\sigma_{ m C}$
Current Sensor Set	т	_	_
Log-likelihood Function	L	_	_
Estimation Error	EE	_	_
Average Estimation Error	AEE	_	_

All the notations that will be used in the following sections are summarized in Table. 4.

Table. 4 Summary of Notations

4.3 On-Chip Random-Variation Sensor Design

Figure. 12a shows the new sensor circuit with only two xnwFETs. Two control signals pre and eva are used. When pre signal is '1' and eva signal is '0', the output is charged to '1' at first, and then discharged to '0' by inversing pre and eva signals. A load capacitance is connected to the output, designed to be much larger than device parasitics related capacitances. There are two reasons for using a large load capacitance: 1) this load capacitance can amplify fall and rise times of the output, making them easier to measure; 2) it can also eliminate the effect of device parasitic capacitances and thus simplify the complexity of theoretical analysis, as shown in subsequent sections. As a result, deviations of fall and rise times in the output can be attributed to variations in eva and pre xnwFETs respectively. To determine the distribution of random variations in physical



Figure. 12 a) Random-variation sensor; b) Sensor set

parameters, by statistical methods, a large number of such sensors are used, defined as the sensor set (as shown in Figure. 12b).

Using this variation sensor and the sensor set, a variability sensing methodology is developed, which can estimate the distribution of random variations in physical parameters based on the measured fall and rise times of outputs from the sensor set.

4.3.1 MLE-based Variability Sensing Methodology

A general framework of Maximum Likelihood Estimation (MLE) based variability sensing methodology is shown in Figure. 13. A sensor set containing n distributed sensors can be used for variation sensing. We use MLE to calculate the mean and standard deviation of measured parameters. Variations in physical parameters will result in fluctuations of rise (t_r) and fall (t_f) times in each sensor. A set of t_r and t_f can be measured from the sensor set – marked as { $t_{r,1}, t_{r,2}, ..., t_{r,n}$ } and { $t_{f,1}, t_{f,2}, ..., t_{f,n}$ }. Assuming that t_r and t_f follow normal distributions (N(μ_{tr}, σ_{tr}), N(μ_{tf}, σ_{tf})) with unknown mean (μ) and unknown standard deviation (σ), MLE can be employed to calculate mean and standard deviation. Eq. (14) and (15) shows both mean (μ) and standard deviation (σ) calculations, given the sample set { $t_{r,1}, t_{r,2}, ..., t_{r,n}$ } and { $t_{f,1}, t_{f,2}, ..., t_{f,n}$ }.



Figure. 13 Maximum Likelihood Estimation (MLE) based variability sensing methodology

$$\mu_{f/tr} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_{f/r,i}$$
(14)

$$\sigma_{tf/tr}^{2} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_{f/r,i} - \mu_{tf/tr})^{2}$$
(15)

The fluctuations in rise and fall times in each sensor are directly correlated to the variations in pre and eva xnwFET transistors. We can assume mean and standard deviation of t_r and t_f as functions of standard deviations of random parameters, as expressed by set of equations in (16).

$$\begin{cases}
\mu_{t_f} = f(\sigma_{X_1}, \sigma_{X_2}, \cdots, \sigma_{X_N}) \\
\sigma_{t_f} = g(\sigma_{X_1}, \sigma_{X_2}, \cdots, \sigma_{X_N}) \\
\mu_{t_r} = h(\sigma_{X_1}, \sigma_{X_2}, \cdots, \sigma_{X_N}) \\
\sigma_{t_r} = p(\sigma_{X_1}, \sigma_{X_2}, \cdots, \sigma_{X_N})
\end{cases}$$
(16)

In (16), $f(\sigma)$, $g(\sigma)$, $h(\sigma)$ and $p(\sigma)$, respectively, are shown as polynomial functions of standard deviations of physical parameters { $X_1, X_2, ..., X_N$ }.

Specifically, for random parameter variation estimation in the NASIC fabric we mainly focus on three physical parameters: channel doping (CD), source-drain doping (SDD) and underlap (U). To estimate the distributions of these random parameters, we use the equation set (17), based on (16)

$$\begin{cases}
\mu_{t_f} = f(\sigma_{CD}, \sigma_{SDD}, \sigma_U) \\
\sigma_{t_f} = g(\sigma_{CD}, \sigma_{SDD}, \sigma_U) \\
\mu_{t_r} = h(\sigma_{CD}, \sigma_{SDD}, \sigma_U) \\
\sigma_{t_r} = p(\sigma_{CD}, \sigma_{SDD}, \sigma_U)
\end{cases}$$
(17)

Since each of the parameters is mainly dependent on a separate process step, variations in these parameters are independent from each other. As a result, (17) can thus be decomposed into functions of the individual parameters, as shown in (18).

$$\begin{cases}
\mu_{t_f} = f_1(\sigma_{CD}) + f_2(\sigma_{SDD}) + f_3(\sigma_U) \\
\sigma_{t_f} = g_1(\sigma_{CD}) + g_2(\sigma_{SDD}) + g_3(\sigma_U) \\
\mu_{t_r} = h_1(\sigma_{CD}) + h_2(\sigma_{SDD}) + h_3(\sigma_U) \\
\sigma_{t_r} = p_1(\sigma_{CD}) + p_2(\sigma_{SDD}) + p_3(\sigma_U)
\end{cases}$$
(18)

To derive the coefficients of polynomial functions in equation set (18), a device behavioral model encompassing parameter variations is built first. The xnwFET device structure is extensively characterized through variation-aware 3-D physics based simulations using Synopsys Sentaurus tools [14]. Device I-V and C-V characteristics were obtained for up to $3\sigma=\pm30\%$ variations in all parameters; standard deviation, $\sigma=\pm10\%$, was conservatively treated as worst-case scenario such as in [14]. The device characterization data was then used to build SPICE-compatible behavior models using regression analysis. These behavioral models represent the xnwFET resistance and capacitance as a function of gate-source voltage, drain-source voltage and extent of variation in physical parameters.

Using this device model, the equation set shown in (18) is populated in an initial circuit simulation step. Circuit simulations are carried out for the sensor shown in Figure. 12a - in this, standard deviations of random parameters are varied one at a time. Then, the relationship between { μ_{tf} , σ_{tf} , μ_{tr} , σ_{tr} } and { σ_{CD} , σ_{SDD} , σ_{U} } is built from the measured fall and rise times by curve fitting. Based on the circuit simulation results, μ_{tr} is almost constant with only 0.14% deviation as { σ_{CD} , σ_{SDD} , σ_{U} } increasing from 0 to 15%, which means μ_{tr} is redundant. Finally, the equation set is reduced as shown in (19) with known polynomial functions { f_1 , f_2 , f_3 , g_1 , g_2 , g_3 , p_1 , p_2 , p_3 }.

$$\begin{cases} \mu_{t_{f}} = f_{1}(\sigma_{CD}) + f_{2}(\sigma_{SDD}) + f_{3}(\sigma_{U}) \\ \sigma_{t_{f}} = g_{1}(\sigma_{CD}) + g_{2}(\sigma_{SDD}) + g_{3}(\sigma_{U}) \\ \sigma_{t_{r}} = p_{1}(\sigma_{CD}) + p_{2}(\sigma_{SDD}) + p_{3}(\sigma_{U}) \end{cases}$$
(19)

Combining with the calculated { μ_{tf} , σ_{tf} , σ_{tr} } from MLE, standard deviations of random parameters are estimated by solving these equations as shown in Figure. 13.

There are two factors that can affect estimation accuracy: the precision of deriving equation set (19) and the accuracy of calculated { μ_{tf} , σ_{tf} , σ_{tr} }. Since (19) is derived by curve fitting in an initial circuit simulation step, it can be made increasingly more accurate by choosing more data points (i.e., { σ_{CD} , σ_{SDD} , σ_{U} } and their corresponding { μ_{tf} , σ_{tf} , σ_{tr} }) in the simulations. But the accuracy of calculated { μ_{tf} , σ_{tf} , σ_{tr} } depends on the size of sample set, corresponding to the size of the sensor set. In order to reduce the area overhead introduced by on-chip sensors, the sensor set is usually made as small as possible. As a

result, the accuracy of the calculated { μ_{tf} , σ_{tf} , σ_{tr} } is constrained in practice, which may contribute to a large part of the estimation error. In the next section, we show how the mean and standard deviation calculations can be improved with reduced sample set using Expectation Maximization (EM) technique [31], [32].

4.3.2 EM-based Variability Sensing Methodology

The Expectation Maximization (EM) algorithm [31], [32] is an efficient alternative to MLE in the calculation of { μ_{tf} , σ_{tr} }. It is an iterative method for estimating the values of some unknown parameters in a statistical model. It can enable more accurate parameter estimation in a statistical model even with incomplete samples. The EM algorithm includes two main steps: the Expectation step and the Maximization step. A general process of EM algorithm for an incomplete sample set is shown as follows.

- Initialize the distribution parameters for the sample set
- Repeat until convergence:
 - Expectation step: calculate the expected value of the sample set and fill the missing samples with this expected value, given the current distribution parameters.
 - Maximization step: re-estimate the distribution parameters to maximize the likelihood of the known samples, given the current expected estimates of the missing samples.

The core of the Expectation step is to rebuild the complete sample set, based on the given distribution parameters. Since the known samples really exist, we try to maximize their likelihood with the rebuilt complete sample set during the subsequent Maximization step. Because the results calculated by the Expectation step and Maximization step depend

on each other, the EM algorithm is iterated sufficient times until the likelihood of the known samples is converged, treated as its maximization. At this time, the estimated distribution parameters are closest to the actual distribution parameters of this incomplete sample set. To estimate the mean and standard deviation in the normal distribution, a framework of EM algorithm is shown in Figure. 14.



Figure. 14 Flowchart of Expectation Maximization algorithm for normal distribution

Based on Figure. 14, the EM algorithm is iterated enough times until the convergence of the likelihood of the known samples is reached, treated as the maximum of this likelihood. In this algorithm, the initial values of (μ , σ) affect the estimation accuracy and overall run-time, and should be therefore chosen carefully.

In our case, the known samples in the incomplete sample set correspond to the sensors we use, and the unknown samples represent the sensors removed from our sensor set. So an insight can be achieved that the area overhead introduced by our random-variation sensors can be reduced by employing EM algorithm. In order to explain the usage of EM algorithm in our random-variation sensing methodology clearly, we define two sensor sets: the complete sensor set (i.e., an imaginary sensor set that can provide sufficient samples to achieve converged estimates) and the current sensor set employed. Because EM algorithm is a modified MLE algorithm, the size of the complete sensor set can be determined by MLE algorithm. Then the number of missing samples equals to the difference in the sizes of these two sensor sets.

Here we assume the size of the complete sensor set is n and the size of current sensor set employed is m, the number of missing sensors equals n-m. Let $\{t_{r,1}, t_{r,2}, ..., t_{r,m}\}$ and $\{t_{f,1}, t_{f,2}, ..., t_{f,m}\}$ denote the measured rise and fall times from the current sensor set, and $\{t_{r,m+1}, t_{r,m+2}, ..., t_{r,n}\}$, as well as $\{t_{f,m+1}, t_{f,m+2}, ..., t_{f,n}\}$, denote the unknown measurements from the missing sensors. As the part of the process of EM in the calculation of the mean and standard deviation of t_r and t_f is completed in a similar manner, we only use fall times (t_f) to illustrate how EM algorithm calculates the mean and standard deviation from an incomplete sensor set. This is as follows.

- 1 Estimate an initial $(\mu, \sigma)_C$ for the complete sensor set, $\{t_{f,1}, t_{f,2}, \dots, t_{f,m}, t_{f,m+1}, t_{f,m+2}, \dots, t_{f,n}\}$;
- 2 Calculate the log-likelihood function, given known $\{t_{f,1}, t_{f,2}, ..., t_{f,m}\}$ under this initial $(\mu, \sigma)_C$ by Eq. (20);

$$L(t_f) = -0.5n * \log(2\pi * \sigma_c^2) - 0.5 \sum_{i=1}^m (t_{f,i} - \mu_c)^2 / \sigma_c^2$$
(20)

3 Re-estimate $(\mu, \sigma)_C$ by Eq. (21) and (22);

$$\mu_{C,i} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{m} t_{f,i} + \frac{n-m}{n} \mu_{C,i-1}$$
(21)

$$\sigma_{C,i}^{2} = \frac{1}{n} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{m} t_{f,i}^{2} + (n-m)^{*} (\mu_{C,i-1}^{2} + \sigma_{C,i-1}^{2}) \right] - \mu_{C,i}^{2}$$
(22)

4 Re-calculate the log-likelihood function given known { $t_{f,1}, t_{f,2}, ..., t_{f,m}$ } under the new (μ, σ)_C by Eq. (20);

5 Repeat until the convergence of the log-likelihood function is reached.

The condition of convergence is expressed as Eq. (23),

$$\left| L(t_f)_{new} - L(t_f)_{old} \right| < \varepsilon$$
(23)

where ε is very small and depends on the required accuracy.

Figure. 15 shows our random variation sensing methodology, which uses EM algorithm for mean and standard deviation calculation. Compared with the previous MLE-based estimation methodology, the main difference is that in the estimation flow we replaced MLE (for the calculation of mean and standard deviation of fall and rise times) by the EM



Figure. 15 Expectation Maximization (EM) based variability sensing methodology

algorithm.

4.4 Evaluation of the Proposed Sensor Design

In this section we detail a framework for evaluating the accuracy of our sensor design based on HSPICE Monte Carlo simulations. The framework is shown in Figure. 16.



Figure. 16 Framework for evaluating sensor design based on Monte Carlo circuit simulations

As shown in Figure. 16, HSPICE circuit simulations need to be carried out with known variation cases injected into the sensor circuits. These simulations assume normal distributions of individual device parameters with a known standard deviation. Based on the measured fall and rise times from the sensor circuits, the standard deviation of random parameters is estimated using the theoretical framework described in the previous sections. As statistical methods are used in the proposed methodology, the number of samples becomes very important to the estimation accuracy. The number of sensors in the sensor set is varied to demonstrate how it affects the estimation accuracy. HSPICE circuit simulations on the sensor set are iterated 1,000 times to achieve sufficient estimates for

{ σ_{CD} , σ_{SDD} , σ_{U} }. The probability density functions (PDF) of these estimated standard deviations are built to check the degree of convergence. Then the relative errors in estimated vs. injected standard deviations of random parameters are calculated. This iterative flow is abstracted in Figure. 17.



Figure. 17 HSPICE Monte Carlo circuit simulation flow

4.5 Results

Following the evaluation framework described in the previous section, circuit simulations were carried out to determine the accuracy of the sensing method for random variation estimation. In the equation set (19), $f(\sigma)$ was populated as a fifth-order polynomial; $g(\sigma)$ and $p(\sigma)$ were populated as third-order polynomials. The simulations were iterated for 1,000 times to estimate { σ_{CD} , σ_{SDD} , σ_{U} } sets. The metrics used are Estimation Error (EE) and Average Estimation Error (AEE) for the parameter X_i across 1,000 iterations. We defined these as:

$$EE = \left| \left(\sigma_{X_i}^e - \sigma_{X_i}^i \right) \right| / \sigma_{X_i}^i \tag{24}$$

$$AEE = (EE_1 + EE_2 + \dots + EE_{1000}) / 1000$$
(25)

wherein σ^{e}_{Xi} is the estimated standard deviation of parameter X_i , and σ^{i}_{Xi} is the injected standard deviation of parameter X_i in the simulations; EE_j represents the jth estimation error for one parameter across 1,000 iterations.



Figure. 18 Probability density function (PDF) of estimated standard deviation for varying number of sensors in the sensor set; a) Channel doping; b) Source-Drain doping; and c) Underlap

4.5.1 Simulation Results of MLE-based Sensing Methodology

Figure. 18 shows the probability density function (PDF) of estimated standard deviations for varying number of sensors in the sensor set. The estimated standard deviations gradually converge and approach the injected value (0.1) as the number of sensors in the sensor set (n) increases. For example, when n increases from 50 to 200, σ in PDF of estimated σ_U decreases from 0.022 to 0.007, which means the degree of convergence in σ_U is increased by 3X. However, when n increases from 200 to 250, the improvement in the convergence of estimated { σ_{CD} , σ_{SDD} , σ_U } becomes less significant; a less than 10% decrease in σ of PDFs of the estimated { σ_{CD} , σ_{SDD} , σ_U } is in fact achieved. This means that 200 sensors in the sensor set are sufficient to estimate { σ_{CD} , σ_{SDD} , σ_U } such that they are less than or equal to 0.1.

For the sensor set containing 200 sensors, the estimation error for every parameter was calculated. The corresponding cumulative distribution function (CDF) of estimation error across 1,000 estimated results is shown in Figure. 19. From this figure, we can note that the estimation error is largest for the underlap variation; however, this error is still less than 15% for 90% of simulations and smaller than 25% for all simulated cases. Estimation



Figure. 19 Cumulative distribution function (CDF) of estimation error across 1,000 estimated standard deviations

errors of all three parameters for worst-case scenarios are summarized in Table. 5.

	Underlap	Channel doping	SD doping
<i>EE</i> in worst-case scenario	25% (most sensitive)	16% (least sensitive)	20%

Table. 5 Estimation Error for MLE-Based Sensing Methodology

4.5.2 Simulation Results of EM-based Sensing Methodology

Based on our simulation results achieved from MLE-based sensing methodology, 200



Figure. 20 Comparison of average estimation error (*AEE*) between EM-based and MLE-based sensing methods: a) Channel doping; b) Source-Drain doping; c) Underlap

sensors are sufficient to achieve converged estimates if the standard deviation of random parameters is less than or equal to 10%. For the EM-based sensing methodology, the size of the complete sensor set (n) was set to 200 and kept constant for simulations. Figure. 20 shows the comparison of AEE for MLE-based and EM-based sensing methods. AEE is much smaller for the EM-based sensing method than the MLE-based sensing method. For example, for underlap (U), if the number of sensors in the current sensor set (m) decreases from 200 to 150, AEE increases from 0.053 to 0.2 with the MLE-based sensing method, but only increases from 0.049 to 0.08 with the EM-based sensing method. As a result, the estimated results become more robust with decrease in number of sensors and the estimation accuracy is improved by at least 2X with the EM-based sensing method. The results are presented in Table. 6, which shows a range of AEEs due to varying number of sensors from 200 to 150.

	<i>m</i> decreased from 200 to 150		
	AEE of CD	AEE of SDD	AEE of U
EM-based method	[0.037,0.065]	[0.039,0.068]	[0.049,0.08]
MLE-based method	[0.04,0.153]	[0.04,0.188]	[0.053,0.2]

Table. 6 Comparison of *AEE* between EM-based and MLE-based Methods

For the EM-based sensing method, the number of sensors in the sensor set was gradually decreased to evaluate estimation accuracy. The relationship between AEE and the number of sensors in the sensor set is shown in Figure. 21. The estimated standard deviation of underlap has the largest AEE among the three random parameters. If AEE is required to be less than 10%, at least 150 sensors are needed in the sensor set.

For m=150, the cumulative distribution function of the estimation error is shown in Figure. 22. From these results, EE is largest for the underlap variation with 12.7% (for all



Figure. 21 Relationship between average estimation error and number of sensors

simulations), which can be treated as worst-case scenario. EEs in the worst-case scenario for all three parameters are listed in Table. 7. Compared with the EEs in Table. 5, the estimation accuracy is improved by 2X with the EM-based sensing method.



Figure. 22 Cumulative distribution function of estimation error for m=150 current sensor set

Table. 7 Estimation	Error for	EM-Based	Sensing	Method
---------------------	-----------	-----------------	---------	--------

	Underlap	Channel doping	SD doping
<i>EE</i> in worst-case scenario	12.7% (most sensitive)	11.3% (least sensitive)	11.5%

In order to evaluate the proposed EM-based sensing method more extensively, the injected standard deviation of physical parameters was reduced gradually from 10% to 1% in the Monte Carlo simulations; we then re-estimated the error with the EM-based sensing method. Following the evaluation flow shown in Figure. 16, the worst-case estimation errors were calculated. Figure. 23 shows the relationship between worst-case estimation errors and injected standard deviations of physical parameters. For these simulations number of sensors in the sensor set was fixed to 150. From these results, the worst-case estimation error decreases slightly (as the injected standard deviation of physical parameters). The main reason for this slight decrease in the worst-case estimation error is the increase of the accuracy in the calculation of $\{\mu_{tf}, \sigma_{tf}, \sigma_{tr}\}$. As the standard deviation of a physical parameter decreases, the degree of fluctuation in the fall and rise times also decreases, which means the number of samples required to derive the distribution decreases. However, the number of sensors in all simulations remains constant, so the accuracy of calculated { μ_{tf} , σ_{tf} , σ_{tr} } improves. From Figure. 23, the worst-case estimation error is less than 13% with the EM-based sensing method for all standard deviations that are less than or equal to 10%.



Figure. 23 Relationship between the worst-case estimation error and the injected standard deviation of physical parameter for m=150

4.6 Summary

In this chapter, a new on-chip variation sensor design for random variation estimation in the NASIC fabric was presented. A generic sensing methodology for extracting distributions of random variations in physical parameters from the measured fall and rise times was described. Using physics-based device models and Monte Carlo simulations, the estimation accuracy was quantified. Simulation results show that with the EM-based variability sensing methodology, an 8% average estimation error can be achieved with as low as 150 sensors in the sensor set. The estimation error in the worst-case scenario was 12.7% for all simulated cases. Compared with the ring-oscillator (RO) based sensor design in CMOS technology shown in [33], the worst-case estimation error is improved by 1.6X, and the total number of devices required in on-chip sensors is reduced by 40X.

CHAPTER 5

PLACEMENT OF ON-CHIP VARIATION SENSORS

5.1 Introduction

Recent technological developments have facilitated the widespread use of variation sensors in variation diagnosis. Due to the aggressive technology scaling and the drastic increase in chip density, it is often of great importance that the variation sensor configurations in use minimize area overhead while meeting some appropriate requirements. We develop two separate approaches for determining the placement of the proposed systematic-variation sensor and random-variation sensor respectively. Further, we introduce examples of sensor placements with WISP-0 processor as a target. Lastly, we identify and analyze external noises that may affect the accuracy of measured fall and rise times based on the sensor placement.

5.2 Placement of Systematic-Variation Sensor

As discussed in section 3.5.2, the sensor effective range is up to 3.3mm considering a permissible estimation error of 20% using an experimental model developed by the 180nm technology. In order to adjust to the emerging nanoscale fabrics, this sensor effective range needs to be scaled down based on the projected technology parameters. Sensor effective area can then be determined with respect to the sensor area and shape. Finally, the sensor placement can be developed with the help of sensor effective area.

5.2.1 Calculation of Sensor Area

NASIC fabric is a regular grid-based fabric with crossed nanowire field-effect transistors at certain crosspoints. Given the specified technology parameters, the circuit

area can be easily calculated based on the required number of vertical and horizontal nanowires. The layout of the systematic-variation sensor is shown in Figure. 24, where the light blue rectangles at the crosspoints represent xnwFETs in NASIC fabric. As a result, 58 horizontal nanowires and 8 vertical nanowires are used to build the sensor. Technology parameters used are listed in Table. 8. Then the sensor area is calculated, as shown in Eq. (26).

$$Area = (58*10+57*10)*(8*10+7*10) = 172500 \ nm^2$$
(26)



Figure. 24 The layout of the systematic-variation sensor

Table. 8 Parameter values for density calculation

Parameter	Value
NW-pitch	20nm
NW-width	10nm

5.2.2 Re-calculation of Sensor Effective Range

Based on the parameters listed in Table. 8, the projected technology node in this thesis is 10nm, which means the sensor effective range should be scaled down with respect to the technology node of 10nm.

With the aggressive scaling of technology nodes, parameter variations are increasing drastically. The statistical results between parameter variations and technology nodes are explored in [34]. Based on these statistical results, when the technology node is scaled down from 180nm to 10nm, percentage of parameter variations increases 40X. It means the sensor effective range needs to be scaled down 40X. So the new sensor effective range (R) with a permissible estimation error of 20% for the 10nm technology is shown in Eq. (27).

$$R = 3.3mm/40 = 82.5um \tag{27}$$

Assuming all devices in the sensor share the same systematic variations, the sensor effective region with consideration of sensor shape is shown in Figure. 25. The area of this



Figure. 25 Schematic diagram of sensor effective range with consideration of sensor shape

sensor effective region is calculated with the new sensor effective range, shown in Eq. (28).

$$Area_{Effective} = \pi R^2 + 2R(1.15 + 0.15) = 21597um^2$$
(28)

5.2.3 Example of Sensor Placement

Based on the sensor effective range, the placement of systematic-variation sensor can then be introduced. The principle of sensor placement is to cover all regions implementing logic by the sensor effective range using the least number of sensors. Here we use WISP-0 processor [1], [2], [12], [13], [35] as an example to show the sensor placement and timing measurement architecture. WISP-0 is a NASIC processor design where NASIC design principles are applied. It implements a 5-stage pipeline architecture, which contains fetch, decode, register file, execute and write back. The floorplan of WISP-0, including program



Figure. 26 Floorplan of the WISP-0 processor [35]

	Nanoarray
	area (nm ²)
PC	35200
ROM	26400
DEC	57600
RF	476000
ALU	59400
Total	654600

Table. 9 Area of WISP-0 in NAND-NAND style [35]

counter (PC), ROM, decoder (DEC), register files (RF) and ALU, is shown in Figure. 26. The area for each unit in WISP-0 is listed in Table. 9. Because the total area of WISP-0 is 654600nm², it is far more less than the sensor effective area. As a result, only one sensor is enough to cover all logic regions in WISP-0. Because RF takes more than 70% area of WISP-0, in order to balance the area of logic regions surrounding the systematic-variation sensor, an example of the sensor placement in WISP-0 processor with timing measurement architecture is shown in Figure. 27.



Figure. 27 Floorplan of the WISP-0 processor with systematic variation sensor and additional CMOS TDC (S.S represents systematic-variation



Figure. 28 Block diagram of timing measurement architecture [36]

In Figure. 27, the timing measurement architecture [36] is treated as an additional CMOS circuit. Its block diagram is shown in Figure. 28. The mode signal is used to configure the time measurement circuit. For example, if mode signal is '0', this circuit operates to measure rise time of the input signal. Finally, this circuit can convert rise or fall times into a digital form and generate an N-bit output code. By adding an N-to-1 multiplexer to the input, we can measure rise or fall times from N input signals by only one such time measurement architecture and output the measured results in series.

5.2.4 Impact of External Noise on the Estimation Accuracy

With respect to the sensor placement, several external noises may affect the values of measured fall times, leading to decrease in the estimation accuracy. These noises include wire delay, measurement error and environmental noise. Therefore, the measured fall time is represented by Eq. (29).

$$T_{f_measured} = T_{f_real} + T_{wire} + T_{measuremen} + T_{environmen}$$
(29)

Wire delay is conventionally dominated by a wire's resistance-capacitance product, or RC delay, which is a function of wire material and wire physical dimensions (e.g., length, width and thickness). With respect to the sensor placement shown in Figure. 27, the wire material and dimensions between outputs in the sensor and the time measurement

architecture are nearly identical, leading to the same wire delay for each output in the sensor.

As the same timing measurement architecture is used to measure fall times in the sensor, the measurement error for each output is also same. Finally, the environmental noise, such as the thermal noise, is mainly governed by environmental factors. Because fall times in the sensor are measured by the timing measurement architecture in a very short time interval, all the environmental factors can be assumed constant in this short time interval. As a result, this environmental noise can also be treated as constant for all outputs in the sensor.

Based on the analysis above, the difference in fall times in one functional unit can be expressed by Eq. (30).

$$T_{f,2_measured} - T_{f,1_measured} = (T_{f,2_real} - T_{f,1_real}) + (T_{f,1_wire} - T_{f,2_wire}) + (T_{f,1_measuremen} - T_{f,2_measuremen}) + (T_{f,1_environmen} - T_{f,2_environmen}) = T_{f,2_real} - T_{f,1_real}$$
(30)

From Eq. (30), we can see that these external noises have no or very little impact on the estimation accuracy of the proposed systematic-variation sensor.

5.3 Placement of Random-Variation Sensor

Similarly to the process for systematic-variation sensor, the area of random-variation sensor will be calculated at first. Then based on the characteristics of random variations, an example of the sensor placement will be introduced. The impact of external noises on the estimation accuracy will be finally discussed.

5.3.1 Calculation of Sensor Area

The layout of the random-variation sensor is shown in Figure. 29. Using the same method and technology parameters (i.e., 10nm NW and 20nm NW pitch) as for the systematic-variation sensor, the sensor area is calculated by Eq. (31).

$$Area = (2*10+10)*(150*10+149*10) = 89700 \ nm^2$$
(31)

150 vertical NWs



Figure. 29 The layout of the random-variation sensor

5.3.2 Example of Sensor Placement

Because of the randomness of random variations, the random-variation sensors can be placed anywhere in the chip to sample characteristics of random variations. Since the fall and rise times in the sensors are used to estimate random variations directly, the principle of the sensor placement is to reduce the impact of external noises on the measured fall and



Figure. 30 Floorplan of the WISP-0 processor with random-variation sensor and additional CMOS TDC (R.S represents random-variation

rise times. In order to achieve this objective and share the timing measurement architecture with the systematic-variation sensor, an example of the sensor placement is shown in Figure. 30. Since the measured fall and rise times also follow Eq. (29), this sensor placement can reduce the wire delay by placing the random-variation sensor close to TDC (measurement error and environmental noise are independent on the sensor placement).

5.4 Summary

In this chapter, the sensor configuration was discussed. The sensor area was calculated at first, which could be treated as the area overhead introduced by on-chip sensors. Then using WISP-0 processor as a target, an example of the sensor placement was presented based on the sensor effective range. In addition, timing measurement architecture in CMOS was shown, which can be used to measure fall and rise times from multiple outputs in the sensors. With respect to the placement of on-chip variation sensors, several external noises were identified. By analyzing their sources, we found that the estimation accuracy of systematic-variation sensor is not deteriorated by these noises. However, the random-variation sensors are very sensitive to them. Since theoretically random-variation sensors can be placed anywhere in the chip, the placement of random-variation sensors tries to reduce the impact of these external noises on the measured fall and rise times.

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSION

In this thesis, we proposed novel on-chip variation sensor designs for emerging nanoscale computing fabrics, which can estimate variations in physical parameters (e.g., channel diameter, gate oxide thickness and source-drain doping density) by employing a physical based device model. Based on the different characteristics of parameter variations, two separate sensor circuits were designed to estimate systematic variations and random variations respectively.

With respect to systematic variations, a pair of NAND gates with fan-in (i, i+1) formed a basic sensing unit that further composed our systematic-variation sensor, based on the number of physical parameters varying systematically. With careful sensor design, relationships between the difference in fall times in one functional unit and physical parameters varying systematically were extracted from our sensor circuits. With the measured fall times in the sensor circuit, the extent of systematic variations was estimated by solving those relationships. Through accurate HSPICE Monte Carlo simulations, our systematic-variation sensor was evaluated and the results show less than 1.2% error in estimation of the extent of systematic variations for 100% of the simulations. In addition, to address the sensor placement, sensor effective range was derived based on the distribution of systematic variations and a maximum allowed imprecision. By employing an experimental model for systematic variations in gate diameter, our sensor effective range was up to 3.3mm with respect to a 20% imprecision.

By contrast, a variation sensor design for estimating the statistical distribution of random variations was presented. To avoid averaging effect, the random-variation sensor

51

circuit was a very simple dynamic gate with only pre and eva xnwFETs. Therefore, the deviations of rise and fall times at output nodes were attributed to variations in pre and eva xnwFETs respectively without the impact of averaging effect. To estimate the standard deviation of random parameters, a variation sensing methodology was described, which could enable this estimation with measured fall and rise times in the sensors. Our random-variation sensor design was evaluated through HSPICE Monte Carlo simulations and the simulation results show an 8% average estimation error with as low as 150 sensors in the sensor set. The worst-case estimation error is 12.7% for all simulated cases. These results indicate the feasibility of our outlined approach.

Finally, an example of the sensor placement was introduced with WISP-0 processor as a target. We discussed the principles of sensor placement and presented timing measurement architecture. The area overhead introduced by on-chip sensors was also calculated with respect to the projected technology parameters (NW: 10nm; NW pitch: 20nm). Based on the sensor placement, the influence of external noises on the estimation accuracy was analyzed and we found that these noises do not affect the systematic-variation sensor, but deteriorate the accuracy of the random-variation sensor.

Furthermore, we believe that the proposed on-chip variation sensors when applied in conjunction with post-fabrication compensation techniques would be able to improve system-level performance in nanoscale computing fabrics, an alternative to making worst-case assumptions on parameter variations in nanoscale designs.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- T. Wang, M. Bennaser, Y. Guo, C. A. Moritz, "Wire-Streaming Processors on 2-D Nanowire Fabrics," NSTI (Nano Science and Technology Institute) Nanotech 2005, California, May 2005.
- [2] T. Wang, M. Bennaser, Y. Guo, C. A. Moritz, "Self-Healing Wire-Streaming Processors on 2-D Semiconductor Nanowire Fabrics," NSTI (Nano Science and Technology Institute) Nanotech 2006, Boston, MA, May 2006.
- [3] S. Iijima and T. Ichihashi, "Single-shell carbon nanotubes of 1-nm diameter," Nature, vol. 363, no. 6430, pp. 603–605, June 1993.
- [4] S. Khasanvis, et al., "Hybrid Graphene Nanoribbon-CMOS Tunneling Volatile Memory Fabric," IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Nanoscale Architectures (NANOARCH), pp.189-195, 8-9 June 2011.
- [5] S. Khasanvis, et al., "Ternary Volatile Random Access Memory based on Heterogeneous Graphene-CMOS Fabric," to appear in Proceedings of IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Nanoscale Architectures (NanoArch), 2012.
- [6] P. Shabadi, A. Khitun, K. Wong, P. Khalili Amiri, K. L. Wang and C. A. Moritz, "Spin Wave Functions Nanofabric Update," IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Nanoscale Architectures (NANOARCH), pp.107-113, 8-9 June 2011.
- [7] P. Shabadi and C. A. Moritz, "Post-CMOS Hybrid Spin-Charge Nanofabrics," IEEE International Conference on Nanotechnology (IEEE NANO 2011), pp.1399-1402, 15-18 Aug. 2011.
- [8] P. Shabadi, S. Rajapandian, S. Khasanvis, and C. A. Moritz, "Design Of Spin Wave Functions-Based Logic Circuits," in SPIN, vol. 2, no. 3, 2012.
- [9] C. A. Moritz, P. Narayanan, and C. O. Chui, "Nanoscale application specific integrated circuits," N. K. Jha and D. Chen, Eds. Springer New York, pp. 215–275, 2011.
- [10] P. Narayanan, et al., "Nanoscale Application Specific Integrated Circuits," IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Nanoscale Architectures (NANOARCH), pp.99-106, 2011.
- [11] P. Narayanan, et al., "CMOS Control Enabled Single-Type FET NASIC," in IEEE Computer Society Annual Symposium on VLSI, pp.191-196, 2008.
- [12] T. Wang, P. Narayanan, M. Leuchtenburg, C. A. Moritz, "NASICs: A Nanoscale Fabric for Nanoscale Microprocessors," IEEE International Nanoelectronics Conference (INEC), 2008.

- [13] C. A. Moritz, et al., "Fault-Tolerant Nanoscale Processors on Semiconductor Nanowire Grids," IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I, special issue on Nanoelectronic Circuits and Nanoarchitectures, vol. 54, iss. 11, pp. 2422-2437, November 2007.
- [14] P. Narayanan, M. Leuchtenburg, J. Kina, P. Joshi, P. Panchapakeshan, C. O. Chui and C. A. Moritz, "Parameter Variability in Nanoscale Fabrics: Bottom-Up Integrated Exploration," IEEE 25th International Symposium on Defect and Fault Tolerance in VLSI Systems (DFT), pp.24-31, 2010.
- [15] D. J. Palframan, N. S. Kim, and M. H. Lipasti, "Mitigating Random Variation with Spare RIBs: Redundant Intermediate Bitslices," IEEE/IFIP international conference on Dependable Systems and Networks (DSN), 2012.
- [16] B. Ray, S. Mahapatra, "A New Threshold Voltage Model for Omega Gate Cylindrical Nanowire Transistor," 21st International Conference on VLSI Design, pp. 447–452, 2008.
- [17] D. Fleury, et al., "Automatic extraction methodology for accurate measurements of effective channel length on 65-nm MOSFET technology and below," IEEE Transactions on Semiconductor Manufacturing, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 504–512, 2008.
- [18] S. Watabe, S. Sugawa, K. Abe, T. Fujisawa, N. Miyamoto, A. Teramoto, and T. Ohmi, "A Test Structure for Statistical Evaluation of Characteristics Variability in a Very Large Number of MOSFETs," in IEEE International Conference on Microelectronic Test Structures, 2009, pp.114–118.
- [19] D. Blaauw, K. Chopra, A. Srivastava, and L. Scheffer, "Statistical Timing Analysis: From Basic Principles to State of the Art," IEEE Transactions on CAD, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 589–607, 2008.
- [20] D. W. McNeill, et al., "Atomic Layer Deposition of Hafnium Oxide Dielectrics on Silicon and Germanium Substrates," in J Mater. Sci:Mater Electron, pp. 119-123, 2008.
- [21] J. P. Cain, and C. J. Spanos, "Electrical linewidth metrology for systematic CD variation characterization and causal analysis," Proc. SPIE Vol. 5038, 2003.
- [22] J. P. Cain, et al., "Optimum sampling for characterization of systematic variation in photolithography," Proc. SPIE Metrology, Inspection, and Process Control for Microlithography XVI, vol. 4689, p. 430-442, 2002.
- [23] P. Panchapakeshan, P. Narayanan and C. A. Moritz, "N3ASIC: Designing Nanofabrics with Fine-Grained CMOS Integration," IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Nanoscale Architectures (NANOARCH), pp.196-202, 8-9 June 2011.

- [24] M. Rahman, P. Narayanan and C. A. Moritz, "N3ASIC Based Nanowire Volatile RAM," IEEE International Conference on Nanotechnology (IEEE NANO 2011), pp.1097-1101, 15-18 Aug. 2011.
- [25] Y. Huang, X. Duan, Y. Cui, L. J. Lauhon, K. Kim, and C. M. Lieber, "Logic gates and computation from assembled nanowire building blocks," Science, vol. 294, no. 5545, pp. 1313 –1317, Nov. 2001.
- [26] W. Lu and C. M. Lieber, "Semiconductor nanowires," Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, vol. 39, no. 21, pp. R387–R406, 2006.
- [27] P. Narayanan, J. Kina, P. Panchapakeshan, C. O. Chui and C. A. Moritz, "Integrated Device-Fabric Explorations and Noise Mitigation in Nanoscale Fabrics," IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 687 -700, Jul. 2012.
- [28] B. Wan, J. Wang, G. Keskin, and L. T. Pileggi, "Ring Oscillators for Single Process-Parameter Monitoring," in Proc. Workshop on Test Structure Design for Variability Characterization, 2008.
- [29] I. A. K. M. Mahfuzul, A. Tsuchiya, K. Kobayashi, and H. Onodera, "Process sensitive Monitor Circuits for Estimation of Die-to-Die Process Variability," in Proc. TAU, 2010, pp. 83–88.
- [30] D. Blaauw, K. Chopra, A. Srivastava, and L. Scheffer, "Statistical Timing Analysis: From Basic Principles to State of the Art," IEEE Transactions on CAD, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 589–607, 2008.
- [31] A. Dempster, N. Laird, and D. Rubin, "Maximum Likelihood From Incomplete Data Via the EM Algorithm," Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series B, vol. 39(1), pp. 1–38, 1977.
- [32] S. Reda and S. R. Nassif, "Analyzing the impact of process variations on parametric measurements: Novel models and applications," in Proc. Des. Autom. Test Eur. Conf., 2009, pp. 375-380.
- [33] K. Shinkai and M. Hashimoto, "Device-Parameter Estimation with On-Chip Variation Sensors Considering Random Variability," Proc. ASP-DAC, pp. 683-688, 2011.
- [34] Nassif. S. R, "Modeling and Forecasting of Manufacturing Variations," Statistical Metrology, 2000 5th International Workshop, pp. 2-10, 2000.
- [35] T. Wang, P. Narayanan and C. A. Moritz, "Heterogeneous 2-level Logic and its Density and Fault Tolerance Implications in Nanoscale Fabrics," IEEE Transaction on Nanotechnology, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 22-30, 2009.

[36] M. Collins, B. M. Al-Hashimi and N. Ross, "A Programmable Time Measurement Architecture for Embedded Memory Characterization," Test Symposium, 2005 European, pp. 128-133, 2005.